IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JIM EARL ARON

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2007-CA-01378

HAM MANAGEMENT & DEVELOPMENT CO., LLC

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case.

st in the	outcome of this case.
1.	Jim Earl AronAppellant
2.	Jay Gore, III, Esq. Gore, Kilpatrick & Dambrino, PLLC 135 First Street Post Office Box 901 Grenada, Mississippi 38902-0901
3.	HAM Management & Development Co.,LLCAppellee
4.	David Hill, Member of HAM ManagementAppellee
5.	David Minyard, Member of HAM ManagementAppellee

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case:

This case arises from the determination by the Chancery Court of Lafayette County, Mississippi, Honorable Kenneth Burns, Special Judge, of the respective interests of the three individual members of H.A.M Management and Development Co, LLC, a Mississippi limited liability company.

B. Course of the Proceedings:

There were significant and diverse pleadings, motions and orders in the convoluted progress of the case to the point of trial, however, the pertinent procedural matters are as follows:

Jim Aron filed suit on July 30, 2004, in the Chancery Court of Lafayette County, Mississippi, against Ham Management and Development Co., LLC, (HAM) seeking an accounting of his interest and injunctive relief arising from the defendant's alleged non-payment of sums owed for work performed by Aron. (R.E. 2, R. Vol.1, pp.1-11) HAM filed a Motion to Dismiss based on Aron's having filed a voluntary petition in bankruptcy on May 19, 2003. (R.E. 3, R. Vol.1, pp.13-15) Aron filed his Response to the Motion to Dismiss on October 4, 2004. (R.E. 4, R. Vol.1, pp.16-45)

Following the recusal of both Chancellors for Lafayette County, Honorable Kenneth

Burns was appointed Special Judge to decide the case on November 11, 2004. (R.E. 5, R. Vol.1, p.49)

Chancellor Burns entered an Order on April 25, 2005, overruling HAM's Motion to Dismiss (R.E. 6, R. Vol. 2, p. 158) and HAM together with Hill and Minyard filed their

Answer and Affirmative Defenses and Counterclaim on May 9, 2005. (R.E.7, R. Vol.2, pp.159-171) Aron filed his Answer to the Counterclaim on June 16, 2005. (R.E. 8, R. Vol.2, pp.186-191) HAM, Hill and Minyard filed an Amended Answer, Affirmative Defenses and Counterclaim on September 22, 2005 (R.E. 9, R. Vol.2, pp.216-229) Aron filed his Answer to the Amended Affirmative Defenses and Counterclaim on September 25, 2006. (R.E. 16, R. Vol.3, pp.320-325)

On September 23, 2005, HAM removed the case to the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Mississippi requesting referral to U.S. Bankruptcy Court. (R.E. 10, R. Vol.2, p. 230) HAM also filed an adversary proceeding in the Bankruptcy Court (R.E. 11, R. Vol.2, p. 264) and on April 27, 2006, the Chancellor granted HAM's motion to stay the Chancery action pending a ruling by the Bankruptcy Court. (R.E. 13, R. Vol.2, p. 284) The District Court remanded the case to the Chancery Court of Lafayette County on May 1, 2006. (R.E. 12, R. Vol. 2, pp.273-276) On May 30, 2006, the Bankruptcy Court entered its Order of Abstention in favor of adjudication of the merits of the Complaint by the Chancery Court. (R.E. 14, R. Vol. 2, p.294) The stay of the Chancery was vacated on June 6, 2006. (R.E. 15, R. Vol.2, p.295)

The matter was tried on March 20 and 22, 2007 and on May 29, 2007, the Judgment of the Chancellor was entered determining the value of Aron's interest in HAM at the time of his bankruptcy filing as \$471,958. (R.E. 17, R. Vol.4, pp.485-492) Aron filed a Motion to Amend the Judgment or for a New Trial on June 7, 2007, (R.E. 18, R. Vol. 4, pp.495-498) which was overruled by Order filed on July 2, 2007. (R.E. 19, R. Vol. 4, p. 510)

Aron has perfected his appeal to address the errors of the Chancery Court. (R.E. 20, R. Vol. 4, p.511)

C. Statement of Relevant Facts

HAM Management and Development Co., LLC is a Mississippi limited liability company, originally formed as CHM Management and Development Co., LLC, whose members at the time of formation consisted of Kenneth Coleman, David Hill, and David Minyard.

(R.E. 23, R. Vol.5, p. 126) In December of 1993, Coleman, Hill, and Minyard, purchased ten (10) acres in Lafayette County, Mississippi, from Mary Alice Wilson for \$275,000, who was paid a down payment at purchase of \$20,000 and who financed the balance of the purchase price of \$255,000. (R.E. 24, R. Vol. 5, p. 130; R. E. 44, R. Vol. 7, p.346). The purchase price of this property was \$27,500 per acre.

In January of 1996, Coleman transferred title to approximately 62.59 acres of additional land adjoining the 10 acre parcel which he had also purchased from Mrs. Wilson. Title was conveyed to Coleman, Hill, and Minyard by assumption warranty deed which required the grantees to assume the purchase money lien of \$500,000 owed to Mary Alice Wilson. (R.E. 53, Trial Exhibit, D-3) The price per acre for this property was \$7,988. CHM borrowed and spent \$167,375 from Mechanics Bank in furtherance of the development of the original 10 acre parcel of property owned by Coleman, Hill, and Minyard prior to Coleman's withdrawal in May of 1998. (R.E. 55, Trial Exhibit D-8 and testimony of Hill, Minyard; R. E. 34, R. Vol.6, pp. 199,200; R. E. 45, R. Vol.7, p. 350). Prior to the separation of Coleman from Hill and Minyard, the three individuals had made payments totaling approximately \$170,000 toward retirement of the \$500,000 debt, of which amount Hill and Minyard paid \$125,000 plus 2/3 of the initial down payment of \$20,000 to Mrs. Wilson. (Hill testimony R.E.45, R. Vol. 7, pp 358-360).

At the separation of Coleman from CHM, LLC, in May, 1998, Coleman took 50 acres of

the property lying west of Burney Branch Creek which had received no improvements, together with the outstanding balance due on the purchase money deed of trust to Mary Alice Wilson.

(R.E. 23, R. Vol 5, p. 127) Hill and Minyard received title to the improved ten acre parcel and 15.54 acres of the 62 acre (sometimes referred to as 64 acres) tract and the associated debt. The result being Coleman had 50 acres with debt owed to Mrs. Wilson, and Hill and Minyard had 25.54 acres with debt owed to Mechanics Bank. (R.E. 41, R. Vol.7, p.315; R. E. 42, R. Vol. 7, p. 327)

This transaction effectively divided all the property owned jointly by Coleman, Hill and Minyard. Hill and Minyard received all the property between Burney Branch Creek and Miss. Hwy. 7 consisting of approximately 25.54 acres, together with the debt owed to Mechanics Bank of \$537,644. The associated debt was for the payoff of Ms. Wilson for the initial purchase of the 10 acres and \$167,375 in improvement to that date together with an additional unexplained amount of \$115,269. The origin and purpose of this unexplained amount is unknown. (Hill testimony R.E. 45, R. Vol.7, pp. 350 -358) Hill and Minyard also refunded \$15,008 to Coleman for taxes he had recently paid on the property received by Hill and Minyard. (R.E. 32, R. Vol.6, p.186)

Hill and Minyard had done legal work for Aron and he approached them about purchasing an interest in the property. (R.E. 25, R. Vol.5, pp. 138-140) On July 13, 1998, Hill and Minyard, individually, entered into an Agreement (R.E. 47, Trial Exhibit P-2) to sell Jim Earl Aron an undivided 1/3 interest in the real estate, for \$125,000 and his agreement to become equally liable on the outstanding debt to Mechanics Bank as well as all other present and future debts against the property and to 'see to' the development of the property. (R.E. 47, Trial Exhibit, P-2; R. E. 45, R.Vol. 7, pp. 350-355). This Agreement was subsequently amended to

clarify the payment of Mr. Aron's purchase price as reflected in the Addendum dated September 25, 1998. (R. E. 48, Trial Exhibit, P-2 "Addendum") The corporate entity is not a signatory to this Agreement and was to receive no money from Aron as the \$125,000 purchase price was paid to Hill and Minyard individually.

Mr. Aron had difficulty paying Hill and Minyard, but ultimately satisfied his purchase price by conveying a parcel of 16 acres of land to Hill and Minyard which they acknowledge was accepted in lieu of the anticipated checks for the \$125,000 consideration. (R. E. 49 Trial Exhibit, P-3; Minyard testimony R.E. 25, R.Vol. 5, p.140).

The day of the Agreement, Hill and Minyard individually and as H &M Management and Development Co., LLC (formerly CHM) executed an Assumption Warranty Deed transferring title to the entire 25.28 acres to Hill, Minyard, and Aron as tenants in common, subject only to the deed of trust in favor of Mechanics Bank. (R.E. 51, Trial Exhibit P-8). The same day, Hill, Minyard and Aron transferred title to the 25.28 acres to HAM Management and Development Company, LLC by warranty deed. (R.E. 50, Trial Exhibit P-7). With the recording of the deed from the three individuals to the LLC, the title to the real property became vested in the LLC in which each owned an undivided 1/3 interest and was its only asset. The individuals agreed to develop the property through the LLC and to divide the proceeds from sale in accordance with the Agreement.² (R.E. 47, Trial Exhibit P-2)

¹Aron contends he had a verbal agreement requiring his participation in any profit on this parcel if it was sold within a year for more than \$150,000. The land was sold within a year for \$320,000 but Hill and Minyard deny any such agreement.

² It is not contested that Hill and Minyard individually received the contemplated \$125,000 of consideration for Aron's 1/3 interest in HAM Management and Development Company, LLC. With the transfer of the real property to the LLC by the aforementioned deed, Hill, Aron, and Minyard each owned a 1/3 interest in the LLC, the sole asset of which was the 25.28 acres. The property was subject to a lien in favor of Mechanics Bank in the amount of \$537,644 for the purchase price, the improvements to date

The sole asset owned at any time by HAM was the 25.28 acres transferred to it by Hill, Minyard, and Aron on July 13, 1998. There was no appraisal or valuation of the land at the time Aron bought in (R.E. 38, R. Vol.6, p.236) and no determination of the 'basis' of Hill or Minyard (R.E. 28, R. Vol.6, pp.158; R. E. 29, R. Vol. 6, p. 161). The LLC had no books or records of account, no minutes, and no checking or banking account. (R.E. 45, R. Vol.7, p.356). As note payments and taxes became due, Hill and Minyard would notify Aron of his share each year. (R.E.27, R. Vol. 5, pp. 144,145). When the case went to trial the amount of debt on the property was approximately \$300,000. (R.E. 37, R. Vol.6, p.226.).

Hill and Minyard's position was that the Agreement required Aron to advance all the costs of development and "see to" the development of the HAM property until it began to sell. (R.E. 26, R. Vol.5, p.142). As the property was sold, the bank was to be repaid first, Aron's development costs next, and the balance pro-rated among the members of the LLC in accordance with their 'basis'. Aron ran short of money and when Hill and Minyard refused to advance additional funds, Aron told the contractor on site, Joe Tidwell, to cease working and the project was effectively shut down in January, 1999. (R.E. 35, R. Vol.6, p.213) Joe Tidwell testified he was paid all he was owed by Aron, but had difficulty getting paid for some additional work he performed later for Hill and Minyard. (R. E. 22, R. Vol. 5, pp. 106 - 111)

Hill and Minyard presented evidence they had invested \$167,375 in the project through CHM prior to Aron's involvement. (R.E. 30, R. Vol. 6, p. 163; R. E. 34, R. Vol. 6, pp. 199,200;

by CHM, and an additional amount the purpose and use of which is undefined but immaterial as each individual had agreed to be equally liable on the debt. The debt to Mechanics Bank was subsequently moved to Merchant's and Farmer's Bank.

³When work stopped, John Lewis testified Aron had completed 45% of the dirt work, 95% of the storm drainage system, but none of the rest of the work, and the project was approximately 24% completed. Jones documented Aron's expenditures for work on the project at \$114,798.

R. E. 55, Trial Exhibit D8) However, all of this expenditure was financed with debt on the property which Aron was required to assume. (R.E. 34, R. Vol.6, pp.199, 200; R. E. 45, R. Vol 7, p.350) Prior to the separation of Coleman from Hill and Minyard, the three individuals had made payments totaling approximately \$170,000 toward retirement of the \$500,000 debt on the 62 acre parcel, of which amount Hill and Minyard paid \$125,000. (Hill testimony R.E. 45, R.Vol.7, pp. 358-360).

Hill and Minyard offered the testimony of Robert Church, C.P.A for a determination of their 'basis' in the property. Over Aron's objection, Church testified their "basis" was \$1,320,244 based on checks written through CHM for development prior to Aron, checks for debt and tax payments through 2007, and including a \$427,350.00 value he 'assigned' to the 15.4 acres from the property received from Coleman at his departure from CHM. (R.E. 39, R. Vol.6, p.244). The trial Court deducted Aron's payment to Hill and Minyard of \$125,000 to arrive at the 'basis' awarded to Hill and Minyard of \$1,185.244.

Following Aron's involvement, John Lewis, a local engineer, was hired by HAM to revise the prior development plans and prepare an estimate of the cost of development. Lewis estimated the cost of developing the property to be \$692,090. (R.E. 54, Trial Exhibit D-6) Aron's accountant, Chris Jones, C.P.A., documented note payments and development expenditures of \$264,496.40 by Aron after he bought into HAM. (R.E. 46, Trial Exhibit P-1 at p.26 and exhibits to Jones deposition).

Aron filed personal bankruptcy on May 19, 2003, which was ultimately dismissed.

⁴Aron represented he paid Darrell Parker the amount of \$125,000 attendant to work on the property but the trial court found insufficient evidence of this payment nor is it included in Jones's tabulation.

His assets listed in the bankruptcy include the HAM real estate. (R.E. 52, Trial Exhibit D-2). Although Aron was late making some payments on the HAM bank note he did make payments until November 7, 2005. (R.E. 46, Chris Jones deposition exhibits, Trial Exhibit P-1). The value of the land at the time of the 2003 bankruptcy filing was \$2,760,000, and increased to \$3,760,000 by February 13, 2007. (R.E. 56, Coats Appraisal, Trial Exhibit D-11). The bank's lien at the time of the bankruptcy filing was \$485,427.00. (R.E. 55, Trial Exhibit D-8)

The Chancellor entered his Judgment relying on Miss. Code Ann. §79-29-307 (d) finding that Aron became dissociated from the LLC on May 19, 2003, upon the filing of his personal petition in bankruptcy. The trial court determined the basis of Hill and Minyard in the property to be \$1,195,244, and Aron's basis in the property to be \$371,958.45. (Paragraphs 20, 21 of the Judgment, R.E. 17, R.Vol. 4, pp.485-492) In doing so, the Chancellor gave full credit to Hill and Minyard for the money CHM had spent on the project even though the CHM expenditure was a part of the debt owed the bank. The trial court also allowed Hill and Minyard to receive benefit for payments they made on bank notes and taxes through 2007. The Chancellor then also deducted the 2003 debt from the appraised 2003 value to determine the amount of remaining equity to be split. (R.E. 17, Judgment paragraph 34, R. Vol 4, p 491). The Chancellor's Judgment determines Aron's share of the remaining equity to be \$235,790 but reduced this amount to \$100,000 "because he did not comply with the terms of his agreement with HAM."

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

All the property at issue was originally purchased from Mary Alice Wilson. Ten acres was initially purchased for \$275,000 of which \$20,000 was paid by Coleman, Hill, and Minyard, and the balance of \$255,000 financed by Mrs. Wilson. A contiguous parcel of 64 acres was purchased for \$500,000 from Mrs. Wilson which was totally financed by her for Coleman who transferred title to Coleman, Hill, and Minyard who assumed the purchase debt to Wilson. In 1998 Coleman took 50 acres and the debt owed to Wilson on the larger tract. Hill and Minyard took the 10 acres, plus 15.54 acres of the 64 acre parcel, for a total of 25.54 acres. In the exchange Hill and Minyard assumed all the debt for the 10 acre purchase including \$167,375 in improvements to the ten acre parcel. They also refunded Coleman \$15,008 in taxes on the 15.54 acres which he had paid before the split.

Within months of Coleman's exit Aron purchased an undivided 1/3 interest from Hill and Minyard who drafted an Agreement and Addendum executed by the parties. Aron received a deed for a 1/3 undivided interest in the land as tenants in common subject only to the lien of Mechanics Bank. The three then titled the property to HAM, LLC, and Aron was to "see to" the development of the real estate. The Addendum required the determination of the parties respective 'basis' in the development prior to distribution of funds.

To have a contract, there must be a 'meeting of the minds'. When Aron paid for his 1/3 undivided interest there was no appraisal of the property, or statement of 'basis'. HAM had no books or records of account and its only asset was the 25.54 acres. There is no Agreement or Addendum language indicating any intent contrary to each member initially having an equal 1/3 interest in the venture. In 1998 when they executed the Agreement and subsequent deeds, Hill and Minyard, who are attorneys, drafted the Agreement and the Addendum and deeds. Any

ambiguity in the Agreement and Addendum must be interpreted against the drafting party, avoiding any absurd, harsh, or unreasonable result.

The Chancellor's Judgment erroneously assigned a 'basis' of \$427,350 for Hill and Minyard in the purchase of 15.54 acres as appraised by accountant Robert Church. With no evidence of any separate payment for the 15.54 acres, Church arbitrarily assigned the same per acre value (\$25,000 per acre) in 2007 to this tract as the per acre price for the original 10 acres. The price per acre for the 15.4 acres when it was part of the 64 acre tract was \$7,988 or \$124,133. This arbitrary assignment of a valuation of 'basis' is \$303,217 more than the documented price. The error is especially egregious in that it ignores the uncontested testimony that Coleman received no extra payment of money for the 15.54 acres when he split with Hill and Minyard. Coleman's consideration for his interest in the 15.54 acres was his release from debt on the property retained by Hill and Minyard and a refund of taxes he had recently paid on the 15.54 acres. This \$303,217 was never paid by anybody, was not debt, and was simply a totally arbitrary 'assignment' of value in favor of Hill and Minyard.

This unreasonable determination of 'basis' could not have been contemplated when the Agreement was executed with Aron in 1998. Both Hill and Minyard testified they did not know their basis in 1998 and even Church testified he could not determine their basis as of 1998. Despite his arbitrary assignment of value, Church testified the meaning of 'basis' was what was actually paid plus improvement costs and carrying charges (R.E.40, R. Vol.6, p.253.) Church then admitted his determination was not based on what had been actually 'paid' by Hill and Minyard. (R.E. 40, R. Vol.6, pp.253-254). Hill and Minyard had not 'paid' for the property because the land received in the Coleman split was included in the debt assumed by them and ultimately by Aron. For the Chancellor to accept this arbitrary 'basis' in contravention of all the

other testimony and documents is an absurd interpretation of 'basis' and requires reversal as manifest error.

The Chancellor also was clearly in error when he included debt assumed equally by Aron for improvements within the 'basis' for Hill and Minyard. Hill and Minyard each testified they received title to 25.54 acres in their 1998 split with Coleman in exchange for assumption of the debt for the purchase and improvement of the initial 10 acres. The \$537,644 debt they assumed included the debt remaining from the land purchase of \$255,000 together with the cost of the improvements to that time of \$167,375 and an additional, unexplained amount of \$115,269. In making his award the Chancellor actually charged Aron with paying 1/3 of the bank debt for money the Court credited to Hill and Minyard as their 'basis'.

Additionally, the Court accepted Church's inclusion of payments by Hill and Minyard after the date of Aron's dissociation in 2003. It is manifest error and direct violation of *Miss Code Ann. Section 79-29-602* to determine Aron's basis and equity with property valued in 2003, while allowing the 'basis' of Hill and Minyard to increase for payments made through 2007. If Aron's equity is limited by the value of the property as of May 19, 2003, so also must be the determination Hill and Minyard's equity.

The trial Court also arbitrarily assessed Aron with \$135,795 in penalties for failing to finish the development with no proof of any damages. Minyard testified he had no proof of any detrimental impact on the property caused by Aron and at the time of trial he would sell the property for \$7.5 million. The actual appraised value of the land at the time of the 2003 bankruptcy filing was \$2,760,000, increasing to \$3,760,000 as of February 13, 2007, clearly exceeding the total amount of the purchase price for the entire 75 acres plus all improvements.

Damages must be proven to a reasonable degree of certainty and the testimony at trial is

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