2007 - CA - 01378



PAGE

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

- A. The 'basis' awarded properly included debt which was assumed by Aron.
- 1. The 'basis' awarded properly included an arbitrary assignment of value for 15.54 acres of the 25.54 acres.

Defendant respectfully maintains that Plaintiff's second assignment of error is just a different way of stating his first assignment of error. Here, Plaintiff criticizes the trial court for including in the estimation of the respective bases of Hill and Minyard an amount to consider the prior acquisition costs of the real property for Hill and Minyard. When they acquired the subject real property, they split with Coleman. Coleman took an undivided interest in forty-nine (49) acres, more or less, and assumed approximately three hundred fifty thousand (\$350,000.00) dollars of the debt of the LLC. (Tr. 1 at 296) Hill and Minyard jointly took an undivided interest in 25.54 acres and assumed approximately five hundred thousand (\$500,000.00) dollars of the LLC. Hill and Minyard were able to negotiate 15.54 of their 25 acres free and clear of all debt. (Tr. at 129-31)

Aron contends, in essence, that Hill and Minyard should not have been given credit at all for the prior ownership of the 15.54 acres, because their negotiation with Coleman left this land free and clear of debt. HAM offered the expert testimony of Robert Church who offered a reasonable explanation and accounting method for a determination of Hill and Minyards' basis in this property. The trial court accepted Mr. Church's method. Mr. Church underwent a Daubert voir dire examination by Plaintiff's counsel. (Tr. at 234-37) Mr. Church explained that there was not a separate purchase price for the 15 acres, so he used a reasonable method to determine Hill and Minyard's basis in the property. (Tr. at 234-37) Mr. Church testified on direct examination that his method was not only reasonable but was in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. (Tr. at 237-38) In addition, Mr. Church underwent extensive cross-examination concerning this issue. (Tr. at 249-56) Mr. Church's methods were sound in determining the basis of Hill and Minyard in the subject 15 acres, and the trial court did not err in relying thereon.

2. The purchase of the all the property was properly included in the debt assumed by Aron, but was credited to the 'basis' of Hill and Minyard to the exclusion of Aron.

This assignment of error appears to be virtually identical to the argument made in the preceding section. The only difference appears to be that Aron maintains that the trial court allowed the arbitrary evaluation of the basis of Hill and Minyard in the subject 15.54 acres but then held Aron to a strict standard in accounting for his expenditures in the property. Again, Aron misses the mark. The trial court held Aron to this standard, because his expenditures could be proven with certainty. On the contrary, since the 15.54 acres were not purchased in a separate transaction, Hill and Minyard could not give a distinct purchase price for that acreage but had to rely on their expert accountant to utilize a rational accounting method for evaluating their basis in that property. No different

÷

treatment was given to Hill and Minyard by the trial court than was given to Aron.

÷

In addition, in this assignment, Aron indicates that the grant of the property to him was not subject to any conditions other than the assumption of the Mechanics Bank debt. According to Aron, his one-third interest in the real property was definitive and not subject to any further deductions. On the contrary, a review of the subject Agreement and Addendum between the parties reveals that Hill and Minyard deeded him an interest in the subject property contingent upon his performance of various conditions including but not limited to the assumption of debt, the payment of cash and the development of the property. (Tr. at 321-26, Ex. P2) Why else would these owners of real property simply convey a one-third interest in a party having no prior interest or involvement with the property? This assignment of error is simply without merit.

Also, as to this assignment of errot, it is apparent that Plaintiff confuses the parties' respective one-third interests in the real property from the parties respective bases in said property. While the Agreement and Addendum did provide that all parties would have a one-third interest in the LLC, and thus the property, it provided that the interests would be calculated after deducting the parties respective bases. (Ex. P2) Thus, the first calculation that had to be made by the trial court was the amount of the parties' respective bases. Only then could the trial court move on to consider the parties remaining interests in the property. Plaintiff states in his Brief that "[t]he result of this position is that Aron never had the equal 1/3 interest for which he bargained." (Appellant's Br. at 19) Respectfully, Aron is missing the point. The calculation of his one-third interest was subject to a prior payment to the members of the LLC, including himself, of each of their respective basis in the property. The trial court relied upon a reasonable method in determining the bases of the parties.

B. The 'basis' awarded to Hill and Minyard properly included amounts for expenditure made after Aron's date of dissociation.

Aron contends in this assignment that the trial court erred by including in the calculation of the basis of Hill and Minyard amounts paid after Aron's effective date of dissolution of May 19, 2003. The trial court ruled that Aron was statutorily dissociated from the LLC by his filing of a personal bankruptcy on May 19, 2003. (R. at 490) Aron is critical of the trial court for including in the calculation of Hill and Minyards' respective bases amounts paid on taxes and debt after Aron's dissociation. However, as conceded by Aron in his Brief, the trial court consistently calculated Aron's basis in the LLC in the exact same manner. That is, the trial court gave Aron credit for payments he had made after May 19, 2003, to the LLC debt and ordered that Aron was entitled to receive such amounts back from HAM as part of his basis. (R. at 490, Appellant's Brief at 24)

The trial court's methods which took into consideration payments made on LLC debts after Aron's effective dissociation from the LLC were fair, reasonable and consistent with all parties. The Chancellor did not abuse his discretion in this regard.

III. The Trial Court Did Not Commit Prejudicial Error in Assessing Aron's Interest in H.A.M., LLC With a Monetary Penalty Without Testimony or Proof on Damages

A. Proof of damages was offered at trial

Ļ

Aron suggests that Hill and Minyard did not provide proof of damages at trial, and thus, the trial court's ruling giving Aron \$100,000.00 for his interest in the LLC was without evidentiary support. First, Aron is mistaken in his assertion that Hill and Minyard suffered no damages as a result of his misconduct. For example, in January 1999, the Tidwells placed a construction lien on the subject property due to Aron's failure to pay them, and Hill and Minyard had to pay a significant

sum of money to the Tidwells to have it removed. (Tr. at 331, Ex. P6) This payment is an example of the damages suffered by Hill and Minyard as a result of Aron's breach of contract, negligence, fraud, etc.

However, whether Hill and Minyard produced evidence of damage is not the point, as the trial court did not rule based on Hill and Minyard's counterclaim. The trial court ruled on Aron's request contained in his Complaint "for a determination of the value of his [Aron's] interest and of the value of the respective interests of the other members of the LLC." (R. at 4) Aron asked the trial court for equitable relief. The trial court heard all of the evidence presented at trial and considered all of the documents offered at trial by all parties. For example, the trial court considered the evidence John Lewis, the project engineer, that Aron had not come near to completing the work which he had agreed to perform on the subject property. (Tr. at 291-92) The trial court considered the factual reality that the subject property would have been completed years ago and would have been ready for lease as a commercial subdivision but for the failure of Aron to finish the work he had promised to perform and then by tying up the real property in litigation for the duration of this lawsuit. After taking all evidence into consideration and after weighing the respective equities of the parties, the trial court determined that Aron was only entitled to his investment in the property and an additional \$100,000.00. Aron asked the court to rule on the LLC's respective interests, and it did. The fact that the trial court did not rule in Aron's favor is not a ground for appeal. The Chancellor did not abuse his discretion and should not be overturned as requested by Aron.

B. Damage Claim is not the personal action of Hill and Minyard and is not barred by Miss. Code Ann. Section 15-1-49

First, as set forth in the previous assignment of error, the basis for the trial court's Judgment

5

was not the Counterclaim filed by HAM but the equitable determination of the interests of the members of the LLC requested by Aron in his Complaint. (R. at 4) Thus, the issue of what individual or entity owned the breach of contract action alleged in the Counterclaim filed in this action is irrelevant to this appeal.

Next, David Hill and David Minyard were named as Defendants in the Answer, Affirmative Defenses and Counterclaim filed in this action alleging various causes of action. That Counterclaim was properly served upon counsel for Aron, and thus, preserved any claims stated therein.

Finally, any civil causes of action asserted by HAM or its members against Aron were not barred by Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-49 as suggested by Aron. This Court has previously held that when a party files a suit against another party, the defendant party can assert causes of action in the way of a setoff in their counterclaim even if such causes of action would have been barred otherwise. *Singing River Mall Co. v. Mark Fields, Inc.*, 599 So.2d 938 (Miss. 1992).

Thus, this assignment of error is without merit.

. .

IV. The Trial Court Erred in Awarding Aron Any Monetary Amount

Defendant filed an Answer to Plaintiff's Complaint as well as a Counterclaim. Defendant asserted various civil causes of action in its Counterclaim which will be covered in this section of this document. The trial court did not address the Counterclaim, and HAM maintains that is should have done so and awarded Plaintiff no monetary amount above the amount of his investment.

It is crystal clear from the evidence that Jim Earl Aron pursued David Hill and David Minyard to become a part of HAM. They did not approach him nor did they need him. He convinced them over numerous occasions that he had the expertise, equipment, experience, qualifications and money to complete the construction. They explained to him how demanding the City of Oxford was regarding compliance with the approved plans and specifications. They explained to him how they wanted to develop the subject property into commercial subdivision lots. They directed him to John Lewis, the project engineer, who explained to Plaintiff in detail the complexity and degree of work which had to be performed. Defendant maintains that Plaintiff knew from the beginning that he did not have the money to timely pay the notes and taxes on the property. Defendant maintains that Plaintiff knew from the beginning that he did not have the money to timely pay the notes and taxes on the property.

The Mississippi Court of Appeals has recently discussed the cause of action of fraud and/or fraudulent inducement. The Court in *Lacy v. Morrison*, 906 So.2d 126, 129 (Miss. App. 2004), stated as follows:

Fraud in the inducement arises when a party to a contract makes a fraudulent misrepresentation, i.e., by asserting information he knows to be untrue, for the purpose of inducing the innocent party to enter into a contract. Contracts entered under such circumstances are voidable by the innocent party; however, the innocent party must first establish the presence of the misrepresentation or fraud alleged, which requires proving, by clear and convincing evidence, the following elements:

(1) A representation; (2) its falsity; (3) its materiality; (4) the speaker's knowledge of its falsity or ignorance of its truth; (5) his intent that it should be acted on by the person and in the matter reasonably contemplated; (6) the hearer's ignorance of its falsity; (7) his reliance upon its truth; (8) his right to rely thereon; (9) his consequent and proximate injury.

Great Southern Nat. Bank v. McCullough Environmental Services Inc., 595 So.2d 1282, 1289 (Miss.1992) (citing Johnson v. Brewer, 427 So.2d 118, 121 (Miss.1983)).

Lacy v. Morrison, 906 So.2d 126, 129 (Miss. App. 2004). All of these nine elements are present in the instant case.

The bottom line is that Plaintiff knew that he did not have the expertise or money to finish

÷

the job, but he had to make a good show of it by doing at least some of the work. When he came to the end of his abilities and money, he just stopped work. By then, he knew that he had fooled Hill and Minyard and that they would owe him something.

Plaintiff knew that his representations regarding the construction and his financial ability to pay the associated costs of the subject property were false at the time he made them.

Defendant maintains that Plaintiff breached the written agreement between the parties. Although Defendant has asserted a breach of contract claim, it is permissible for this Court to consider the intent of the parties and the communications between them in making its determination in this case. While ordinarily, parol evidence is not allowed regarding breach of contract actions, the Mississippi Supreme Court has made an exception to this rule. In *Memphis Hardwood Flooring Co. v. Daniel*, 771 So.2d 924, 931 (Miss. 2000), the Mississippi Supreme Court found as follows:

In Brown v. Ohman, 42 So.2d 209, 213 (Miss.1949), we found that there is an exception to the parol evidence rule in actions alleging fraud and deceit. We distinguished two situations in which fraud may arise in the procurement of a contract and held that parol evidence is admissible to prove either instance. Id. at 212. We stated:

Actions for the recovery of damages for fraud and deceit are usually based upon misrepresentations which amount to fraud in inducing a party to enter into a contract as contrasted with fraud in procuring a signature to and thereby completing the execution of the contract, and the law is well-settled that parol evidence is admissible to prove fraud and misrepresentations in either instance.

Id.

t

Memphis Hardwood Flooring Co. v. Daniel, 771 So.2d 924, 931 (Miss. 2000). Thus, the conversations and representations between the parties which have been discussed throughout this Brief can be considered by this Court even in relation to the contract claim.

At this point, it is important to note that Plaintiff was to receive his interest in the LLC and

the subject property <u>contingent upon</u> his fulfillment of his contractual obligations. (Ex. P2) Hill and Minyard already owned the property long before Plaintiff came along. As a result, it is logical that the intent of the parties was that Plaintiff meet certain obligations prior to him earning his interest in the property. As set forth above, Plaintiff had to fulfill three basic obligations in order to earn his interest in the property. Plaintiff either failed wholly or in part to perform all of his obligations as set forth above.

Plaintiff did not fulfill the necessary conditions precedent to the vesting of his interest in HAM and its property. As a result, he never earned any interest in HAM or its property. Defendant maintains that Plaintiff's breaches justify that he should have only gotten back what he specifically, legitimately invested into the subject property.

To the extent the trial did not address HAM's counterclaim, Defendant maintains that the trial court erred. The trial court further erred in awarding Aron \$100,000.00 over and above the amount he invested in the LLC.

V. Aron is Barred from Prosecuting this Appeal Due to Its Acceptance of the Payment of the Judgment

It is undisputed that HAM paid the full Judgment amount timely and that Aron accepted the Judgment amount with no reservations or conditions. As a result, HAM maintains that Aron is barred from prosecuting this appeal, as it waived its right to do so by accepting the Judgment amount from Aron. This Court has found that a party will be deemed to have waived its right to appeal when: the appealing party has accepted payment of the Judgment; the party has appealed the Judgment as a whole; and the amount recovered is contested on appeal. *Taylor v. Morris*, 609 So. 2d 405, 407-08 (Miss. 1992)(citing *Adams v. Carter*, 47 So. 409, 409-12 (1908)). All of these

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